2000

Wardley Better Homes and Garden v. Leland J. Mascaro, Sheri Mascaro, Tracy Cannon, Cannon Associates, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This case is on appeal from a Final Order of Judgment entered on January 11, 2000, by Judge Leslie A. Lewis of the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah. Jurisdiction of this Court is appropriate pursuant to Utah Constitution art. VIII, sec. 5, and Utah Code Ann. §§ 78-2-2(4) and 78-2a-3(j)(1999).

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

Was it error for the trial court to distinguish between an agent whose acknowledged fraud and deceit cost an innocent defendant to expend tens of thousands of dollars in attorneys fees, and that agent's principal, whose suit sought to benefit and ratify the agent's fraudulent conduct? This issue was raised to the trial court by way of motion. (R. at 979)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Whether attorney fees are recoverable in an action is a question of law, which [this Court] review(s) for correctness." Valcarce v. Fitzgerald, 961 P.2d 305, 315 (Utah 1998). See also Robertson v. Gem Ins. Co., 828 P.2d 496, 499 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

STATUTORY PROVISIONS

The following statutory provisions are relied upon in this brief:

Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-56(1) (1988)

Rule 4-501, Utah Code of Judicial Administration

Utah Code Ann. § 61-2-10(1) (1997)

Utah Code Ann. § 61-2-18(2) (1997)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Wardley accused Cannon of theft when, in fact, Wardley's lawsuit amounted to an effort to capitalize on fraudulent and deceptive practices. Among other claims below, Wardley claimed that Cannon interfered with Wardley's economic relations with landowners and sellers Leland and Sheri Mascaro ("Mascaros"), converted Wardley's property, and violated sections of the Utah Administrative Code governing the lawful and ethical conduct of real estate agents and brokers. Specifically, Wardley claimed that Cannon interfered with listing agreements between Wardley and the Mascaros and unlawfully refused to remit the commission paid to Cannon upon the sale of the Mascaros' property. These claims were added by amendment, the order granting leave for which instructed Wardley to investigate the claims it was making against Cannon.

At trial, the court found that Wardley, through its agent Arles Hanson ("Hanson"), had altered the dates of certain listing agreements and fraudulently induced the Mascaros to enter into the listing agreements. Accordingly, the trial court dismissed Wardley's meritless claims that Cannon converted its property, acted unethically or improperly, and tortiously interfered with the listing agreements.

Cannon moved the trial court to award its attorneys fees under Utah's bad faith statute. Wardley did not contest the reasonableness of the attorney's fees that Cannon sought to recover. These fees were properly supported by the Affidavit of Cannon's counsel pursuant to Rule 4-501 of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration. The trial court denied the motion, indicating that Wardley, as opposed to its agent Hanson, did not act in bad faith in bringing the action. The only issue before this Court is whether attorney fees should have been awarded to Cannon under Utah's bad faith statute, Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-56 (1988).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. BEFORE TRIAL WARDLEY WAS CAUTIONED TO INVESTIGATE ITS CLAIMS:

Wardley first brought suit only against the Mascaros on November 7, 1994, (R. at 1), alleging that Wardley had found a ready, willing and able buyer for the Mascaros' property, and that pursuant to signed listing agreements Wardley was entitled to a commission from the Mascaros. (R. at 4.) After learning that the Mascaro property was sold to someone other than Wardley's buyer, Wardley amended its complaint on August 4, 1995, (R. at 81) to add and bring claims against Cannon alleging only unlawful interference with contract and civil conspiracy. (R. at 87-89.) Over a year later, on August 19, 1996, Wardley moved to amend its complaint for a second time for the purpose of, among other things, adding three more claims against Cannon. (R. at 175-76.) Cannon opposed Wardley's motion to file a second amended complaint. (R. at 248.) Although the trial court allowed Wardley to file a second amended complaint, it expressly cautioned Wardley about bringing claims against Cannon for which no good faith basis existed.

The Motion to Amend Complaint is granted. It should be noted that this Court is not ruling on the viability of any of plaintiff's new claims. Plaintiff is urged to very carefully assess the facts and law and only file those claims that can be brought in good faith after diligent exploration of the facts.

(R. at 269.) Court's Ruling dated October 9, 1996, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "A" (emphasis added.) Despite the trial court's admonition, Wardley chose to file its Second Amended Complaint against Cannon, wherein Wardley alleged that Cannon violated the Utah Administrative Code, converted Wardley's property, and intentionally interfered with listing agreements executed between Wardley and the Mascaros. (R. at 278-80.)

II. HANSON'S AND THUS WARDLEY'S FRAUD AND DECEIT WERE ESTABLISHED AT TRIAL

Trial began on June 8, 1998 and continued through June 11, 1998. At the conclusion of the trial, the court ruled from the bench that Wardley had not established a cause of action against Cannon under the Utah Administrative Code. (R. at 927.) Likewise, the court also ruled that Wardley had not met its burden of proof in connection with its claim that Cannon interfered with Wardley's prospective economic relations. (R. at 927.) Finally, the court ruled that Wardley had not met its burden of proof as to its claim that Cannon's failure to remit the commissions on the sale of the Mascaros' property to Cannon constituted conversion. (R. at 927.) The trial court took the remaining issues raised in Wardley's Second Amended Complaint under advisement. (R. at 927.)

On August 28, 1998, the trial court issued its Memorandum Decision, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "B." (R. at 937.) The trial court found that Wardley's agent changed and altered dates in the listing agreements with the Mascaros. Wardley had accused Cannon of interfering with these agreements. (R. at 943-44.) The trial court also found that Wardley's agent, to induce the Mascaros to sign the listing agreements, fraudulently represented that the listing agreements would be limited to one-party and would expire in one day. (R. at 944.) Specifically, the trial court found that Wardley's agent "altered the November 15, 1993, date which was originally found on the first listing agreement and added expiration dates to the remaining three listing agreements to reflect an unagreed and unintended one-year duration." (R. at 948.) The trial court found that through its agent, Wardley took full advantage of its opportunity to deceive the Mascaros by hastily meeting with the Mascaros to obtain their signatures on the listing agreements on a Sunday, when Wardley knew that the Mascaros' legal counsel would most likely not be present. (R. at 949.) The trial court concluded that the listing agreements were fraudulently induced and, therefore, Wardley did not

have any viable economic relations with the Mascaros with which Cannon could interfere. (R. at 951.) Cannon incurred over \$60,000 in fees and costs in defending against Wardley's claims, as set forth in the Affidavit of Mark Morris. (R. at 996-99.)

III. THE TRIAL COURT DISTINGUISHED BETWEEN PRINCIPAL AND AGENT FOR ATTORNEYS' FEES PURPOSES

On September 25, 1998, Cannon filed a motion to recover the attorney's fees and costs incurred in defending against Wardley's claims. (R. at 979.) On February 9, 2000, the trial court awarded Cannon \$2091.45 in costs. (R. at 1393.) On April 21, 1999, the trial court entered its order denying Cannon's motion for attorney's fees, ruling that Wardley was not responsible for the fraudulent conduct of its agent because it did not participate in its agent's fraudulent conduct, did not know its agent was engaging in fraudulent conduct, and did not have reason to know that its agent had engaged in fraudulent conduct. (R. at 1265-66.) The trial court's April 21, 1999 order denying Cannon's motion for attorney's fees was incorporated by reference into the court's Final Order of Judgment dated January 11, 2000. (R. at 1359-60.) Cannon now appeals from this Final Order of Judgment. (R. at 1358-61.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

If Hanson had been the plaintiff, his liability for fees would be undisputed. But Utah law precluded Hanson from being the plaintiff, and instead required his broker to file suit. That is because under Utah's common law and statutory scheme, the broker is the principal, and it benefits from his agent's activities. For the same policy reason, this Court should hold that the broker should also bear the negative consequences of his agent's activities.

For all legal and equitable purposes in this case, Wardley and its agent Hanson are one and the same. Wardley placed Hanson in the position of dealing with landowners. Wardley's agent acted to further Wardley's purposes by seeking to secure a commission

to Wardley. Wardley's agent fraudulently altered contracts, unlawfully induced the execution of contracts, and in addition to pursuing the landowners chose to prosecute an action against Cannon, alleging interference with contracts which he knew to be fraudulently and unlawfully obtained. Because Hanson was Wardley's agent, Hanson's bad faith in causing Wardley to bring frivolous claims against Cannon must be imputed to Wardley. Such liability includes liability for paying the attorney's fees that Cannon incurred in defending against Wardley's frivolous and bad faith action.

Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-56(1), Cannon, as the prevailing party, is entitled to an award of reasonable attorneys' fees to compensate for defending against Wardley's meritless and bad faith claims. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-56(1) (1988). The Utah Legislature has expressly determined that the broker is ultimately responsible for its agent's actions. Wardley, as the principal broker, chose to file suit against Cannon and was seeking to benefit from its agent's activities in securing a commission on the sale of the Mascaros' property. Given that Wardley stood to benefit from its agent's efforts to secure a commission, it follows that the trial court erred in concluding that Wardley would suffer no consequences from its agent's bad faith.

As between Cannon and Wardley, Wardley should answer for its agent's conduct and pay fees to Cannon. It was Wardley who put Hanson in the position and empowered him with the authority to deceive the Mascaros and fraudulently create the contracts upon which Wardley's claims against Cannon were based. Even if this Court agrees with the trial court's conclusion that Wardley, as a brokerage, was a victim of the dishonesty of its own agent, it cannot ignore the fact that Wardley was in a superior position to prevent the fraud of its own agent. Utah courts have consistently held that as between two innocent persons, one of whom must suffer through the fraud of third, that the one who puts it in the power of the other to practice the fraud must suffer the loss. In addition, it was Wardley that prosecuted the action against Cannon. Wardley was seeking to benefit from the fraudulent and unlawful activities of its agent. In such circumstances, Utah courts

have uniformly concluded that the burden should fall upon Wardley. Unless Cannon is reimbursed for the attorney's fees it paid in defending against Wardley's claims, Cannon alone will suffer the consequences of Hanson's dishonesty. Therefore, this Court should reverse the trial court's denial of Cannon's Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs, and order Wardley to pay to Cannon the sum of \$63,857.50 in attorneys' fees, plus Cannon's reasonable costs and attorneys fees incurred in this appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. CANNON IS ENTITLED TO FEES BECAUSE WARDLEY'S AGENT ACTED WITHIN THE SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT, AND WARDLEY RATIFIED HIS CONDUCT BY PURSUING A COMMISSION.

Below, Wardley claimed that it should not be liable for Cannon's attorneys' fees because Hanson's fraudulent conduct was beyond the scope of his employment with Wardley. Utah law and common law do not support this claim.

W. Keeton, Prosser and Keeton on the Law of Torts § 70, at 502 (5th ed. 1984) defines the basic function that the term "scope of employment" serves in respondeat superior cases:

It [scope of employment] refers to those acts which are so closely connected with what the servant is employed to do, and so fairly and reasonably incidental to it, that they may be regarded as methods, even though quite improper ones, of carrying out the objectives of the employment. . . . [I]n general the servant's conduct is within the scope of his employment if it is of the kind which he is employed to perform, occurs substantially within the authorized limits of time and space, and is actuated, at least in part, by a purpose to serve the master.

Id. (emphasis added.) By seeking to obtain a real estate commission for himself and Wardley, albeit through fraudulent means, Hanson was acting well within his scope of employment.

A. The Wardley/Hanson Relationship Meets Utah's Three Part Test

Utah cases have tended to focus on three criteria for determining when the conduct of an employee falls within the scope of employment.¹ First, an employee's conduct must be of the general kind the employee is employed to perform. See Keller v. Gunn Supply Co., 62 Utah 501, 220 P. 1063 (1923) (citing Hardeman v. Williams, 150 Ala. 415, 43 So. 726, 10 L.R.A. 653 (1907)); Restatement (Second) of Agency § 228(1)(a) (1958). That means that an employee's acts or conduct must be generally directed toward the accomplishment of objectives within the scope of the employee's duties and authority, or reasonably incidental thereto. In other words, the employee must be about the employer's business and the duties assigned by the employer, as opposed to being wholly involved in a personal endeavor. See Keller, 62 Utah at 505, 220 P. at 1064. This element is not disputed here, particularly where Wardley was entitled to a large percentage of the commission.

Second, the employee's conduct must occur within the hours of the employee's work and the ordinary spatial boundaries of the employment. See Cannon v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 60 Utah 346, 351, 208 P. 519, 521 (1922); Restatement (Second) of

¹ The Restatement (Second) of Agency § 228 (1958) definition of "scope of employment" corresponds to how Utah courts have consistently defined scope of employment. See Stone v. Hurst Lumber Co., 15 Utah 2d 49, 51, 386 P.2d 910, 911 (1963); Combes v. Montgomery Ward & Co., 119 Utah 407, 411, 228 P.2d 272, 274 (1951); Barney v. Jewel Tea Co., 104 Utah 292, 296, 139 P.2d 878, 879 (1943); Keller v. Gunn Supply Co., 62 Utah 501, 220 P. 1063 (1923); Cannon v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 60 Utah 346, 208 P. 519 (1922). Cf. Carter v. Bessey, 97 Utah 427, 431, 93 P.2d 490, 492 (1939). Section 228 provides in part:

- (1) Conduct of a servant is within the scope of employment if, but only if:
 - (a) It is of the kind he is employed to perform;
 - (b) it occurs substantially within authorized time and space limits;
 - (c) it is actuated, at least in part, by a purpose to serve the master, and
 - (d) if force is intentionally used by the servant against another, the use of force is not unexpected by the master.

Agency § 228(1)(b). Wardley must concede Hanson's efforts with the Mascaros were within these boundaries.

Third, the employee's conduct must be motivated, at least in part, by the purpose of serving the employer's interest. See Stone v. Hurst Lumber Co., 15 Utah 2d 49, 51, 386 P.2d 910, 911 (1963); Combes v. Montgomery Ward & Co., 119 Utah 407, 411, 228 P.2d 272, 274 (1951) ("within the scope of furthering [employer's] purpose"); Barney v. Jewel Tea Co., 104 Utah 292, 296, 139 P.2d 878, 879 (1943). Cf. Carter v. Bessey, 97 Utah 427, 431, 93 P.2d 490, 492 (1939) (finding employer not liable when employee's conduct intended "for purposes other than the master's business"). The courts in Combes and Carter make clear that an employer is liable for the tortious conduct of its employee if the employee's purpose or intent, however misguided in its means, is to further the employer's business interests. See also Prosser and Keeton § 70, at 503-05. Finally, the fact that Wardley brought this suit to enforce contractual rights Hanson procured for it, ratifies Hanson's conduct, and establishes this element.

B. Once the Relationship is Established, Liability Follows

Once an employee acts within the scope of his employment, the employer is bound, regardless of intent. Utah courts have previously set forth the general principles governing the liability of an employer for an employee's tortious acts, both for negligent and intentional acts. See Hodges v. Gibson Products Co., 811 P.2d 151, 156-57 (Utah 1991); Birkner v. Salt Lake County, 771 P.2d 1053 (Utah 1989); see also Barney v. Jewel Tea Co., 104 Utah 292, 139 P.2d 878 (1943). In Birkner, the Court held that an employer is liable for the torts of its employees that are committed within the scope of employment, even if the tortious acts were intentional and not done solely to further the interests of the employer.

An employer is vicariously liable for an employee's intentional tort if the employee's purpose in performing the acts was either wholly or only in part to further the

employer's business, even if the employee was misguided in that respect. Birkner, 771 P.2d 1057. See also W. Keeton, Prosser and Keeton on the Law of Torts, at 505 (5th ed. 1984). Thus, an employer is vicariously liable for the fraudulent conduct of its employees, if the employee is acting to further any purpose of the employer. See Hodges, 811 P.2d at 156-57. Applying this principle here, Wardley is vicariously liable for Hanson's fraud, including the liability for attorneys fees that attached once the spurious claims were asserted in bad faith and pursued through trial.

C. Vicarious Liability Applies in Litigation Contexts

Moreover, the rule of vicarious liability for intentional torts stated in Birkner and reaffirmed in Hodges also applies when an employer authorizes a servant or an agent to initiate a legal action. See Hodges, 811 P.2d at 156-57. The Restatement (Second) of Agency § 253 (1958) states:

A principal who authorizes a servant or other agent to institute or conduct such legal proceedings as in his judgment are lawful and desirable for the protection of the principal's interests is subject to liability to a person against whom proceedings reasonably adapted to accomplish the principal's purposes are tortiously brought by the agent.

Here, where the principal filed legal proceedings at the agent's behest, the principal has no less liability as the main actor than it would have if the agent had instituted such proceedings directly on behalf of the principal.

Furthermore, personal knowledge material to the liability that a servant has when acting in a matter as to which the master has empowered the servant to act is imputed to the master. Section 272 of the Restatement (Second) of Agency capsulizes the rule:

In accordance with and subject to the rules stated in this Topic, the liability of a principal is affected by the knowledge of an agent concerning a matter as to which he acts within his power to bind the principal or upon which it is his duty to give the principal information.

The rule imputing a servant's knowledge to the master is of particular importance in tort cases based on negligence, malicious prosecution, fraud, and deceit. Comment c of § 272 states in part:

In determining tort liability, the knowledge which the actor has or should have is usually of great importance. This is particularly true in cases of negligence and in torts which, like deceit or malicious prosecution, are based upon the fact that the defendant has acted improperly in view of the knowledge which he has.

Thus, even if this Court accepts the trial court's finding that "Wardley," had no knowledge of Hanson's fraudulent conduct when it initiated the meritless action against Cannon, i.e., no one at Wardley other than its agent had knowledge of the fraud and baseless nature of the claims, Hanson's knowledge in causing Wardley to initiate and prosecute the action against Cannon is imputed to Wardley. The responsibility for the initiation of the action itself is imputed, as a matter of law, to Wardley, because Hanson acted within the scope of his authority and was motivated either in whole or in part to carry out Wardley's purposes.

Hanson acted within his delegated authority in obtaining listing agreements and seeking to enforce those agreements for Wardley's benefit and his own. Most importantly, it was Wardley and not Hanson that elected to bring the claims against Cannon after being warned by the trial court to investigate the facts. Hence, it is not solely Hanson's acts giving rise to liability in Wardley, but Wardley's direct and intentional acts, with knowledge of fraudulent intent imputed to it. Accordingly, the bad faith Hanson evidenced when Wardley sought the trial court's enforcement of fraudulently obtained listing agreements is imputed to Wardley, and thus it should pay Cannon's attorneys fees.

II. CANNON IS ENTITLED TO FEES BECAUSE WARDLEY IS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE FRAUDULENT CONDUCT OF ITS AGENT.

The relationship between a real estate broker and its agents is that of employer and employee, and the universal laws applying to principals and agents, set forth above, control their rights and responsibilities. White v. Fox, 665 P.2d 1297 (Utah 1983); Wardley Corp. v. Welsh, 962 P.2d 86 (Utah Ct. App. 1998). Agency is “the fiduciary relation which results from the manifestation of consent by one person to another that the other shall act on his behalf and subject to his control, and consent by the other so to act.” Wardley Corp. v. Welsh, 962 P.2d at 89 (quoting Restatement (Second) of Agency § 1(1) (1958)). In the instant case, it is not disputed that Hanson was authorized to act, and did in fact act, as Wardley’s agent.

Wardley contends that it should not be held liable for the fraudulent conduct of its agent. Specifically, Wardley argued to the trial court that it had an honest belief in the propriety of the conduct of its agent; that it did not intend to take unconscionable advantage of Cannon; and it did not pursue its claims against Cannon with knowledge of its agent’s fraudulent activities. Wardley’s attempts to avoid responsibility is contrary to law, and unavailing here.

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