2000

Wardley Better Homes and Gardens v. Leland J.  
Mascaro, Sheri Mascaro, Tracy Cannon and  
Cannon & Associates Inc., a Utah corporation :  
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The lower court order complained of by Cannons involves both legal and factual questions. In order to overturn a trial court's factual determinations an appellant must marshal all the evidence which supports the determination to demonstrate it cannot stand. In this case, however, Cannons did not include any portion of the four days of trial testimony or any of the 65 exhibits admitted at the trial of this case. Cannons' failure to marshal should lead this Court to affirm the trial court's findings.

The trial court's determinations that Wardley's claims were meritorious and were not pursued in bad faith are supported by the facts, evidence and the record and should not be overturned on appeal.

Wardley should not be punished for the wrongful conduct it did not know about, did not ratify or support in some way. The appropriate party, if any, that should have been responsible for Cannons' attorney fees is Hansen. Nevertheless, Cannons' failure to file claims against him preclude them from recovery in this case.

The trial court found, and set forth in the record, several factors which justify its decision not to award Cannons' attorney fees against Wardley. Those factors include the complexity of the facts and legal issues, Wardley's lack of knowledge of wrongdoing, its lack of participation in any wrongdoing and its honest good faith belief in the claims it was pursuing.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. CANNONS' FAILURE TO MARSHALL THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION IS FATAL TO THEIR APPEAL**

In order to challenge the finding of a trial court, the appellant must “marshal the evidence, citing the appellate court to all the evidence in the record that would support the determination reached by the trial court and then demonstrate why, even when viewed in the light most favorable to the court below, it is insufficient to support the finding under attack. *Interiors Contracting, Inc. v. Smith Halander & Smith Assoc.*, 881 P.2d 929, 933 (Utah App. 1994) (citing *Reid v. Mutual of Omaha Ins. Co.*, 776 P.2d 896, 899 (Utah 1989); *West Valley City v. Majestic Inv. Co.*, 818 P.2d 1311, 1313 (Utah App. 1991); *Saunders v. Sharp*, 793 P.2d 927, 931 (Utah App. 1990); and *Harker v. Condominiums Forest Glen, Inc.*, 740 P.2d 1361, 1362 (Utah

App.1987)). “In order to properly discharge the duty of marshaling the evidence, the challenger must present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings the appellant resists.” *West Valley*, 818 P.2d at 1315.

In this case Cannons appeal the trial court’s denial of their request for attorney fees which was based upon the determination that Wardley had not pursued a meritless claim in bad faith.<sup>1</sup> Whether a claim is without merit is a question of law which this Court should review for correctness. Whether or not a claim is pursued in bad faith, however, is a “question of fact and is reviewed by [the appellate] court under the clearly erroneous standard. *Jeschke*, 811 P.2d at 204. “The party challenging the trial court's findings of fact ‘must show that the evidence, viewed in a light most favorable to the trial court, is legally insufficient to support the contested finding.’” *Chipman v. Miller*, 934 P.2d 1158, 1161 (Utah App. 1997) (quoting *Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Adams*, 806 P.2d 1193, 1197 (Utah App.1991)). In order to prevail in this Appeal, Cannons needed to marshal all the evidence which supports the trial court’s decision that Wardley's claims were meritorious and not pursued in bad faith, then show how that the finding is so lacking in support as to be against the clear weight of the evidence. Cannons, however, have not marshaled any evidence supporting the trial court's decision.

This dispute involved several dispositive motions, sixty five exhibits and four days of trial testimony. Even then, the trial court needed a significant amount of time to sort through all of the evidence before it could make a ruling. Rather than provide this Court with the trial testimony or the exhibits upon which the trial court’s decision was based, Cannons have

---

<sup>1</sup> The basis for finding a claim meritless and the standard to determine whether an action is pursued in bad faith are dealt with separately below.

relied only upon the trial court's finding that Hansen inserted dates on four listing agreements that were inconsistent with the Mascaro's understanding. Cannons failed to point out the various Real Estate Purchase Contracts that the Hansens presented to the Mascaros. [R. 847-50]. They ignored the fact that the Mascaros believed they had a contract with Wardley or they would not have filed a counterclaim alleging breach of contract. [R. 28-39]. They also disregarded the numerous other efforts and steps which the Hansens took to help the Mascaros sell their property. [R. 661-77]. Finally, but perhaps most importantly, Cannons did not provide this Court with any of the trial testimony, which formulated the basis for the trial court's decision. [R. 1409-11; Notice of No Transcript Requested].

"If the appellant fails to marshal the evidence, the appellate court assumes that the record supports the findings of the trial court and proceeds to a review of the accuracy of the lower court's conclusions of law and the application of that law in the case." *Saunders v. Sharp*, 806 P.2d 198, 199 (Utah 1991). After carefully considering all the evidence presented in this case the trial court determined that the claims pursued by Wardley had merit "they were not frivolous or of little weight or significance" and were not pursued in bad faith. [R. 1171-77 and 1265-67]. "If the party challenging the finding fails to marshal the supporting evidence, the trial court's finding will not be disturbed on appeal. *Breinholt v. Breinholt*, 905 P.2d 877, 882 (Utah App. 1995); (citing *Rudman v. Rudman*, 812 P.2d 73, 79 (Utah App.1991)). Because Cannons have not marshaled the evidence in support of the trial court's ruling, this Court should assume that the record supports the trial court and uphold the decision denying Cannons the attorney fees requested.

**II. CANNONS ARE NOT ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY FEES FROM WARDLEY BECAUSE ITS CLAIMS WERE MERITORIOUS AND WERE NOT PURSUED IN BAD FAITH**

In order to award attorney fees pursuant to Utah Code Anno. § 78-27-56 three requirements must be met: “(1) the party seeking fees prevailed; (2) the claim or defense asserted by the opposing party was meritless; and (3) that claim or defense was asserted in bad faith.” *Chipman*, 934 P.2d at 1161. In order to prove a claim is without merit, a party must show that the claim is “frivolous” or “of little weight or importance having no basis in law or fact.” *Cady*, 671 P.2d at 151. The instant case involved complex factual and legal issues, including the alleged modification of the Listing Agreements, the enforceability of the Listing Agreements, whether Cannons interfered with another buyer's purchase of the property, whether the Mascaros refused to sell their property to a ready, willing and able buyer brought into the transaction by Wardley, and whether Cannons interfered with the Wardley/Mascaro Listing Agreement. [R. 268-70, 271-92, 636 and 661-77]. Reviewing all of the evidence, the trial court did not conclude that Wardley's claims were “frivolous” or “of little weight or importance having no basis in law or fact.” [R. 1173-74 (citing *Cady*, 671 P.2d at 151)]. The legality of the Listing Agreements upon which Wardley's claims were based, presented mixed questions of fact and law which were only resolved by the trial court after “extensively evaluating the trial testimony and carefully scrutinizing the numerous documents entered into evidence, in light of the law.” [*Id.*]. Even without the benefit of the trial testimony and numerous documents upon which the trial court's decision was based the meritorious nature of Wardley's claims is obvious and should be recognized by this Court.

Even if Wardley's claims lack merit, before attorney fees can be awarded pursuant to Utah Code Anno. § 78-27-56, , there must be a factual finding that Wardley did not have a good faith belief in its claims. "Finding a lack of good faith turns on subjective intent" and for purposes of § 78-27-56 is synonymous with a finding of "bad faith." *Cady*, 671 P.2d at 151-52. See also *Taylor*, 770 P.2d at 171 and *Valcarce*, 961 P.2d at 315-16. To find that Wardley acted in "bad faith" by pursuing these claims "the trial court must find that one or more of the following factors existed: (I) the party lacked an honest belief in the propriety of the activities in question; (ii) the party intended to take unconscionable advantage of others; or (iii) the party intended to or acted with the knowledge that the activities in question would hinder, delay, or defraud others." *Valcarce*, 961 P.2d at 316 (citing *Cady*, 671 P.2d at 151). There was no evidence presented below, and none before this Court, that Wardley lacked an honest belief in the propriety of its claims, that it intended to take unconscionable advantage of anyone or that it knew its actions would hinder, delay or defraud others. To the contrary, the trial court found that even though Hansen had improperly modified/inserted dates on the Listing Agreements, when all the evidence was considered, Wardley had a good faith basis from which to pursue the claims involved in this action. This Court, therefore, should affirm the trial court's decision denying Cannons' request for attorney fees.

In the *Cady* case, like in this case, a realty company sued for a commission from a prospective seller of real property. The trial court in that case found that the realtor's claims were meritless and awarded the defendant its attorney fees. The Utah Supreme Court, however, reversed and held that even though the suit may have been ill conceived and without merit, there was no proof of bad faith to support an award of attorney fees. The Supreme Court explained:



[i]n the instant case, the trial court found lack of good faith because had plaintiffs researched the issue as instructed at pre-trial conference, they would have discovered they had no valid claim and they could have saved the court valuable time by avoiding trial. We disagree that this conduct constitutes bad faith. Plaintiffs were clearly pursuing a meritless claim and better preparation might well have disclosed that to them. However, that conduct does not rise to lack of good faith. The evidence must also affirmatively establish a lack of at least one of the three elements of good faith heretofore discussed. There was no evidence that plaintiffs lacked an honest (although ill-formed) belief in their claim; that they had an intent to take an unconscionable advantage of defendants; nor that they had the intent to, or knowledge that their suit would hinder, delay or defraud defendants.

*Cady*, 671 P.2d at 152; (citing *Tacoma Assoc. of Credit Men v. Lester*, 72 Wash.2d 453, 458, 433 P.2d 901, 904 (1967)). Even if Wardley's claims were poorly researched and/or ill-formed, the honest belief that a commission was due from the Mascaros and or Cannons defeats Cannons' claim for attorney fees in this case.

### **III. CANNONS' RELIANCE UPON PRINCIPLES OF VICARIOUS LIABILITY ARE MISPLACED AND WERE NOT A PART OF THE PROCEEDING BELOW**

The doctrine of vicarious liability by which employers and principals are held liable for the harmful conduct of their employees and agents committed within the course and scope of their employment provides a basis for tort liability. It does not automatically apply in all circumstances. For example, an employer will only be held responsible for punitive damages resulting from an employee's conduct in the following four circumstances:

- (a) if the principal or a managerial agent authorized the doing and the manner of the act;
- (b) if the agent was unfit and the principal or a managerial agent was reckless in employing or retaining him;

(c) if the agent was employed in a managerial capacity and was acting in the scope of employment; or

(d) if the principal or a managerial agent of the principal knowingly ratified or approved the act.

*Hodges v. Gibson Products Co.*, 811 P.2d 151, 63 (Utah 1991); (citing Restatement (Second) of Agency § 217C (1958)). The award of attorney fees pursuant to Utah Code Anno § 78-27-56 is much closer to an award of punitive damages than to an award for tortious conduct. Recovery of attorney fees under § 78-27-56 is punitive rather than remunerative and is only available when a party acts so far outside the bounds of acceptable conduct that a sanction would be appropriate. Even if the single factual finding that Hansen placed incorrect dates upon the Listing Agreement, equates to a meritless action being filed in bad faith, the wrongdoer, in this case, Hansen, should be the one held responsible.

Cannons may complain that they cannot collect from Hansen. Cannons' inability to collect from Hansen, however, is entirely their own fault for not filing a crossclaim against Hansen like the Mascaros did. If Cannons had asserted a claim against Hansen, recovery of awardable fees would be possible. Wardley should not be forced to answer for Cannons' failure to avail themselves of relevant legal remedies.

IV. **EVEN IF WARDLEY IS DETERMINED TO BE RESPONSIBLE FOR HANSEN'S CONDUCT THE TRIAL COURT DETERMINED THAT THE COMPLEXITY OF THE FACTS AND LEGAL ISSUES COUPLED WITH HANSEN'S WRONGFUL CONDUCT PRECLUDED AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES IN THIS CASE**

Utah Code Anno. § 78-27-56 provides for the award of attorney fees to the prevailing party when the opposing party has pursued a meritless action which was not brought or asserted in good faith. Subsection 2 of that code section, however, states that the “court, in its

discretion, may award no fees or limited fees against a party under subsection (1), but only if the court: ...(b) enters in the record the reason for not awarding fees under provisions of Subsection (1).” Utah Code Anno. § 78-27-56(2). In the instant case the trial court entered findings which justify not awarding any fees against Wardley in this case. Those findings included:

1. Wardley's suit was not without merit; [R. 1173].
2. The evidence did not support the contention that Wardley's claims were frivolous of little weight; [R. 1173-74].
3. Wardley did not have knowledge of Hansen's fraudulent conduct; [R. 1174].
4. Wardley strongly believed it had a claim for unpaid commissions; [*Id.*].
5. Wardley's decision to bring a lawsuit under the listing agreements, which on their face appeared to be legitimate, cannot be viewed with 20/20 hindsight and the benefit of approximately four days of trial testimony; [*Id.*].
6. Wardley's Complaint was not asserted or pursued in bad faith; [*Id.*]. and
7. The record does not provide any credible support for a finding that Wardley pursued its claims to hinder, delay, defraud or otherwise take unconscionable advantage of Cannon. [R. 1175].

See also R. 1265-67.

Wardley has already expended a significant amount on attorney fees as a result of Hansen's conduct. In the interests of justice and for the reasons set forth above this Court should determine that even if Wardley is somehow responsible for Hansen's conduct, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by not awarding the attorney fees requested by Cannons.

### **CONCLUSION AND REQUESTED RELIEF**

Cannons' appeal should be denied and the lower court ruling upheld because Cannons failed to marshal all the evidence supporting the trial court's decisions. Additionally,